INDIGENOUS JUSTICE CLEARINGHOUSE

A series of Research Briefs designed to bring research findings to policy makers

Communities working to reduce Indigenous family violence

Brief 12, June 2012

Kyllie Cripps and Megan Davis Written for the Indigenous Justice Clearinghouse

Introduction

The issue of family violence in Indiaenous communities across Australia been described has at various times over the past decade as a 'national emergency', 'Australia's Tsunami', and a 'national disgrace' (Howard 2007; Lawrence 2002; Bamblett et al. 2002). It is not a 'new' issue: state commissioned inquiries and government reports, particularly since 1999, have found that Indigenous communities are more vulnerable to violence and more likely to be victims of violence than any other section of Australian society (Gordon et al. 2002; Memmott et al. 2001; Mow 1992; Robertson 1999; Wild & Anderson 2007).

Available evidence clearly establishes that there is no single factor, but rather a multitude of interrelated factors that contribute to the occurrence of family violence in Indigenous communities. Significant attention has been drawn to the relationship between the disruption and distress attributable to colonisation. dispossession and the removal of Indigenous children from their families, and Indigenous experiences of violence. In addition, Indigenous people are much more likely to experience socio-economic disadvantage including unemployment, welfare dependency and overcrowding in households. Physical and mental

health issues, low self esteem, a sense of powerlessness, and destructive coping behaviours including substance abuse, may be further contributing factors to the incidence of family violence. All of these experiences, separately but especially in combination, are risk factors for family violence. (See further Al-Yaman et al. 2006; Cripps 2007; Robertson 1999; Weatherburn et al. 2006).

Mainstream responses to Indigenous family violence have typically arisen in the context of a crisis, thus their focus has largely been on policing, prosecution and punishment, as well as providing safe accommodation for women and children. Mainstream responses also involve multiple agencies each with heavy workloads and limited time, and therefore effective communication between agencies can be compromised. Such agencies also generally have limited cultural awareness and/or experience working in Indigenous contexts and are often unfamiliar with the situations confronting many Indigenous families (Cripps 2007; Gordon et al. 2002; Wild & Anderson 2007).

In response to the challenges and shortcomings of mainstream responses, recommendations for reforms across all sectors have been put forward (Gordon et al. 2002; Wild & Anderson 2007; Cunneen 2010) and many Indigenous-specific programs

and policies have been introduced. Government agencies have responded positively to recommendations for reforms. Over the past decade the justice sector has: increased the employment of Indigenous staff; made training opportunities available to improve cultural awareness and understanding of the complexities and contexts of violence in Indigenous communities; enhanced interagency collaborations to provide more integrated services; and implemented alternative mechanisms for engaging Indigenous community stakeholders in the justice process (e.g. Indigenous sentencing courts, community justice groups) (WA 2002; NSW 2007; Qld 2000). It should however be noted that there have been few formal evaluations of these reforms. Similarly, there is little evidence of the effectiveness of Indigenous specific programs due to minimal investment in evaluation (HREOC 2008). This brief therefore generally relies on reports of good practice.

This brief will describe some of the promising efforts to reduce Indigenous family violence in Australia and overseas, including both government and community initiatives, as well as support mechanisms and measures for victims. Some of Memmott et al.'s (2001) nine categories of violence program types are adopted as headings: support programs; behavioural reform programs; community policing and monitoring



programs; justice programs; mediation programs; education and awareness programs; and composite programs. Evaluations of alcohol restrictions are also considered.

Definition

The term 'family violence' in an Indigenous context, is used to describe the range of violence that takes place in Indigenous communities including the physical, emotional, sexual, social, spiritual, cultural, psychological and economic abuses that may be perpetrated within a family. The term also recognises the broader impacts of violence; on extended families, kinship networks and community relationships. It has also been used in the past decade to encompass acts of self-harm and suicide, and has become widely adopted as part of the shift towards addressing intra-familial violence in all its forms (Gordon et al. 2002; Robertson 1999; Wild & Anderson 2007).

Support Programs

These programs provide services to victims of violence. They generally focus on counselling, legal advice and advocacy, and are often modelled on mainstream services. They seek to respond to family violence but do not actually seek to reduce its incidence.

Indigenous Family Violence Prevention Legal Services

Indigenous Family Violence Prevention Legal Services (FVPLS) have played an important role in addressing the needs of victims of family violence. They provide culturally appropriate and holistic assistance to victims of family violence and/or sexual assault in the form of legal services, information, counselling, referral and practical support. They may also undertake preventative initiatives, such as community education and awareness programs.

The findings of a 2006 audit of 13 FVPLS units were positive, with the majority achieving the desired outcome of working collaboratively with other service providers to deliver appropriate, accessible,

equitable, efficient and effective legal assistance and related services to victims of family violence (Australia. Department of Finance and Deregulation 2006). There are currently 29 FVPLS units, 26 of which are located in very remote, remote or outer regional areas across Australia. Given 70 per cent of the Indigenous population resides in urban and large regional settings, several bodies have recommended that similar services be offered in urban areas (Joint Committee of Public Accounts and Audit 2005).

Tu Tama Wahine o Taranaki and Tu Whare Ruruhau o Meri

In New Zealand, the Domestic Violence Act 1995 provides for programs for 'adult protected persons' (usually women). The associated regulations require that Tikanga Maori (Maori values and concepts) be included in program design and delivery. Two 12-week programs for Maori adult protected persons, grounded in Kaupapa Maori (Maori practices and philosophies), Tu Tama Wahine o Taranaki and Tu Whare Ruruhau o Meri. have been evaluated (Cram et al. 2002). The programs aim to protect participants by providing education and information, building support networks and assisting them to explore options for the future.

An evaluation found that women participants spoke highly of the programs but noted that 12 weeks is only 'a small step on the pathways that Maori women must tread in order to become free from violence' (Cram et al. 2002: 20). The evaluation affirmed that programs need to come from a cultural base to address the needs of protected persons in a holistic fashion. Brown and Languedoc came to a similar conclusion in their review of successful Canadian Aboriginal family violence programs, noting that programs must be 'grounded in the traditional teachings of each community' (2004: 482).

Behavioural Reform Programs

Behavioural reform programs are rehabilitative in focus and seek to

work directly with perpetrators of violence with the aim of changing their behaviour to prevent future acts of family violence.

Ke Ala Lokahi

The Ke Ala Lokahi program, conducted in Hawaii between 2000 and 2005, aimed to implement a culturally-based intervention program for Native Hawaiian perpetrators that would build skills and increase knowledge of Native Hawaiian cultural values, beliefs and traditions. Participants attended 24 weekly two hour sessions with a final two day session held at a cultural site.' before the sentencing beginning 'Case managers worked with participants, maintaining contact. Case managers worked with participants, maintaining contact with probation services and providing individual counselling, advocacy, support and referrals. Perpetrators were randomly assigned to either Ke Ala Lokahi or the standard mainstream intervention, which used a cognitive behavioural approach.

A formal evaluation of *Ke Ala Lokahi* reported positive outcomes, for both victims and perpetrators, in their knowledge about themselves and their relationships. However, a recidivism rate of 36 percent was reported for those who had completed 80 percent or more of the program, a similar rate to those who completed the standard intervention (Kanuha 2007).

Community Policing and Monitoring Programs

Through community policing and monitoring programs, community members 'police' their own communities for violence or the precursors of violence.

Night Patrols

Night patrols are common in the Northern Territory, and also exist under different names in most other states in Australia. Night patrols involve a group of volunteers who routinely patrol the main street, keeping an eye on community members affected by alcohol. The object is not to remove intoxicated persons from the streets

Indigenous Justice Clearinghouse

but to resolve problems and settle disputes before they escalate and potentially draw in extended families or entire tribal groupings. However if violence has already taken place, the night patrol will transport victims to refuges or medical centres, and perpetrators to sobering up shelters (Curtis 1993). Critical to the success of night patrols is police support; but police must also have a physical presence in maintaining law and order in the community (Higgens 1997).

Despite night patrols having been in operation since the 1980s, there is little data available for evaluation (AIC 2011). With the aim of addressing this issue, the AIC has developed a new performance and reporting framework for the Australian Government Attorney-General's Department (Beacroft et al. 2011).

An evaluation in 2003 found that night patrols were moving beyond their traditional function to 'developing sophisticated case-work arms and ... engaging in multi-agency liaison in their localities' (Blagg & Valuri Community 2003:7). members reported that the presence of a patrol in combination with a safe house had reduced and prevented family violence (Blagg & Valuri 2003). More recent evaluations confirm that night patrols are highly valued across the Northern Territory, and that communities view them as directly contributing to improvements in community safety (AIC 2011; ANAO 2011). The importance of community involvement and support, and good relationships between the police and night patrols were highlighted as critical to the success of patrols (ANAO 2011). However it has been noted that in building relationships with local police, it is important that patrols maintain a distinct and culturally appropriate contribution to crime prevention and community support rather than becoming a de facto police service (AIC 2011).

Shelter / Protection Programs

While not seeking to directly address the underlying causes of violence in communities, Memmott et al.'s framework (2001) identified shelter/

protection programs as inextricably linked to the success of night patrols and as an important response to high levels of violence in Indigenous communities. Sobering up shelters are predominantly aimed at men affected by alcohol who are potential perpetrators of violence. Safe houses provide safe places for women and children when escaping violence. As well as accommodation, they provide activities that promote and build the capacity of women and children to make informed decisions about their safety and healing options (Australia. National Homelessness Strategy & QLD. Department of Communities 2004).

The Yuendumu Women's Centre, a community-controlled organisation founded by Aboriginal women in the late 1970s, established a safe house in 2003 to address escalating violence in the community. The Social Justice Commissioner has recognised the Yuendumu Safe House as a 'promising practice' in reducing violence (HREOC 2008: 158). It is 'well respected and valued' by community members who view it as a community owned and conceived solution to violence (HREOC 2008: 159). This example reinforces the view supported by substantial literature that communitybased initiatives aimed at reducing violence, where the community exercises a degree of ownership over its establishment, development and operation, are more likely to be successful (Memmott 2001; Keel 2004; HREOC 2008).

The support of men in the community is also emphasised as critical to the success of safe houses, as is the support of the police (HREOC 2008).

Justice Programs

Alternative justice models have been developed in Australia and internationally to reduce family violence.

Healing Circles

The Hollow Water community in Canada developed the Community Holistic Circle Healing (CHCH) process in response to sexual abuse. This program works with perpetrators who have agreed to plead guilty, and combines healing and sentencing circles to allow sexual abuse to be openly discussed. In collaboration with a variety of services, perpetrators are confronted by, and held accountable to their victims, their families and the community.

A 2001 evaluation of CHCH found that two clients out of 107 (7%) reoffended in its first ten years of operation, compared with a general recidivism rate for sex offenders of approximately 13%. Community members also perceived an improvement in the community's health and wellness because of the program (Native Counselling Services of Alberta 2001). The CHCH process has been cited by many Australian reports as a best practice initiative (Gordon et al. 2002; NSW Aboriginal Child Sexual Assault Taskforce 2006; Wild & Anderson 2007). However, it is important to note the small number of clients involved in the evaluation. Significant concerns have also been raised that healing circles tend more to the needs of offenders than those of victims and may fail to address underlying power inequities (Cripps & McGlade 2008; La Rocque 1997).

Indigenous Sentencing Courts

In Australia, most jurisdictions have implemented Indigenous sentencing circles or courts. These courts apply Australian sentencing law and procedure but allow Indigenous Elders and Respected Persons to participate in the process. Family violence offences can be heard in some courts, but this is controversial and Northern Territory guidelines indicate that 'caution needs to be exercised' for offences that involve violence against women (Marchetti 2009). Evaluations have indicated that the courts can provide a culturally appropriate process and that the participation of Elders can increase the accountability of offenders (Morgan & Louis 2010). They can also increase Indigenous ownership of the administration of the law (Borowski 2010). However there is no strong evidence of reduced recidivism (Fitzgerald evaluations 2008). Furthermore,

have focused on offenders and little research has been undertaken into the experience of victims.

Mediation Programs

Indigenous mediation programs have arisen both in Australia and internationally over the last two decades. They provide culturally appropriate dispute resolution services to assist in addressing issues that may escalate into violence. Bauman and Pope (2009) provide examples of community approaches to dispute resolution, however there is little information available on their effectiveness in family violence contexts.

generally Mainstream services discourage the use of mediation in cases of family violence and some researchers question whether restorative justice is safe or effective for victims of family violence (Stubbs 2004). However, several commentators have reported that some Indigenous people would like mediation services to assist with family violence (Cunneen et al. 2005). Kelly (2002) argues that while mediation is not suitable to resolve violence, it may be possible to mediate issues in a relationship where violence is present, without condoning violence. Critical evaluations are needed to ascertain whether appropriate processes can be developed in the Indigenous context to mediate family violence related disputes without compromising the safety of victims or condoning the violence (Cunneen et al. 2005; Bauman & Pope 2009).

Mawul Rom

Mawul Rom may be a promising initiative in developing practices and processes to respond to family violence using mediation. The Mawul Rom Project, which began in 2004 is a collaboration between the Yolngu people and non-Indigenous alternative dispute resolution experts. Through ceremony, discussion, education performance, and Indigenous and non-Indigenous participants learn about dispute resolution. cross-cultural decision making, mediation and leadership

skills. Participants have returned to their communities and applied these skills to community problems, including family violence (HREOC 2008). No formal evaluation has been conducted, but the *Mawul Rom* program was recently accredited as a Masters program by Charles Darwin University (CDU 2010).

Education and Awareness Programs

Education and awareness programs are critical to the engagement of all community members in confronting violence in the home and in the community. They provide information and resources on violence and challenge community members to actively take a stand against violence and become involved in initiatives to create safer communities.

Mildura Family Violence and Sexual Assault Campaign

The Mildura Family Violence and Sexual Assault campaign was developed by Mildura Aboriginal Corporation, Murray Valley Aboriginal Cooperative and a number of Aboriginal justice and family violence organisations, in close consultation with Victoria Police. Funded by Victoria Police, the campaign included posters and three television commercials, each with different themes: women, children and men. Each discussed the impact of violence and referred victims to appropriate services.

The campaign has not been evaluated but Victoria Police have reported that the process of creating the advertisements improved the community's knowledge and awareness of family violence, and also improved the relationship between police and the Aboriginal community (HREOC 2008).

NgatiPorou Community Education Project

The *NgatiPorou* Community Education Project took place in a rural area of New Zealand where 62% of the population identify as Maori. The Project aimed to reduce injury by addressing road safety, alcohol-and drug-related harm, playground safety, familv and violence. It incorporated Tikanga Maori (customary knowledge) and was based on the marae (community meeting places). The family violence work began by identifying a network of those already interested or involved in family violence prevention. Wananga (education sessions) were conducted using language and situations relevant to Maori, and a hui (meeting) and concert were held to raise awareness about the need to prevent violence (Brewin & Coggan 2004).

In their evaluation, Brewin and Coggan (2004) found that the program allowed the community to have ownership over the initiatives through development and implementation of the program. However, pre-intervention and post-intervention surveys of 476 Maori community members only found a small increase (27% to 31%) in those who would now 'walk away from a threatening situation at home' (Brewin & Coggan 2004: 11).

Aboriginal Women Against Violence Project

The Aboriginal Women Against Violence Project in southwest Sydney aimed to train Indigenous women to become trainers, mentors and advocates, to increase community understanding about the impacts of family violence on women and children, and to increase the capacity of participants to report violence. Five training programs were held and an Aboriginal Women Against Violence Committee was established to advocate for service provision, raise awareness and support Aboriginal women's networking.

An evaluation (Rawthorne 2010) found that participants had increased knowledge of the local service system, were more confident in accessing services, and had built networks to challenge violence against Aboriginal women. An unanticipated outcome was the challenge to local services to consider how they can better support Aboriginal women (Rawthorne 2010).

Composite Programs

'Composite' or 'holistic' programs attempt to target the offender, victim and community as a whole and are particularly appropriate when addressing dysfunctional communities with multiple problems (Memmott et al. 2001).

Balgo Women's Law Camp

The Balgo Women's Law Camp, a highly regarded cultural initiative established in 2007 by the Kapululangu Aboriginal Women's Association, is a composite program that aims to use Aboriginal law and culture and community development theory to tackle violence. The Law Camp was a response both to intergenerational violence in the community and the Northern Territory Emergency Response. The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Justice Commissioner reported that the Camp has had a positive impact on the community and especially for women, who found it empowering to work toward finding solutions to the problems in the community (HREOC 2008).

Aboriginal Family and Community Healing Program

The Aboriginal Family and Community Healing Program, delivered by the Central Northern Adelaide Health Service, included a structured eightweek family wellbeing course for women, a men's group, individual counselling and camps. An evaluation found that the program met its primary objectives of: building community capacity to support safe families: improving participants' communication conflict and resolution skills; supporting families in crisis; and building the capacity of mainstream agencies (Kowanko & Power 2008). Its strengths included its holistic approach and Aboriginal cultural focus (Kowanko et al. 2009).

Alcohol Restrictions

Alcohol management plans and other restrictions on the sale and use of alcohol have been in place in a number of areas for many years, however there have been few formal evaluations. (Note: A Research Brief published by the Indigenous Justice Clearinghouse is forthcoming on this topic.)

Evaluations have been published on restrictions in WA and NT communities. The evaluation of alcohol restrictions in Fitzroy Crossing and Fitzroy Valley demonstrated that two years after implementation, health and social benefits were continuing for local communities (University of Notre Dame 2010a). While alcohol restrictions had not stopped family violence, the evaluation found good evidence that the severity and incidence of family violence had reduced significantly. In Halls Creek, reported domestic violence decreased in the twelve months following the introduction of alcohol restrictions (University of Notre Dame 2010b), and there were similar decreases in Groote Eylandt and Bickerton Island (Conigrave et al. 2007).

Evaluations of restrictions in Alice Springs (Senior et al. 2009) and Katherine (d'Abbs et al. 2010b) were less encouraging, with an initial reduction in harm that was not sustained over the longer term. These evaluations suggest that the extent to which the community is consulted and supports the restrictions is relevant to their effectiveness (AIC 2011). The evaluation of Tennant Creek restrictions (d'Abbs et al. 2010a) did not report specifically on family violence. Further research and evaluation of alcohol restrictions as a behaviour change mechanism in preventing and reducing violence is required.

Common Factors For Effective Family Violence Program Design

The material reviewed for this brief highlights both a lack of solid evidence of the effectiveness of programs designed to reduce the incidence of family violence, and some positive signs emerging from evaluations of program design that is inclusive of Indigenous communities. Qualitative evidence suggests that effective programs require the involvement of Indigenous communities in defining the problem and its context, and in setting the parameters for how to engage with the issue(s). Interventions can then be developed by and for the community in which they operate so that they recognise and respect Indigenous diversity, embrace Indigenous cultural values, and foster community engagement in decision-making processes. Overall, this would ensure that the community is vested in the issue, the intervention and its outcomes.

The type of interventions that have consistently been identified as being most effective in responding to family violence are those designed to be flexible and holistic in their approach, responding to the multiplicity of factors contributing to the occurrence of violence and to the many people affected by it (HREOC 2008).

It is widely recognised that the skills and resources needed to respond to the problems associated with family violence involve multiple professionals and organisations, who must work in partnership towards the mutual goals of healing individuals, families and communities, breaking the cycle of violence and creating safer, healthier, nurturing environments. Working effectively in partnership requires:

- Making use of local structures and developing relationships with a variety of key players including other services, Indigenous organisations, Elders, and most importantly, community members of both sexes and different ages
- Establishing effective and functional leadership and decisionmaking structures
- Establishing processes where services work together 'respectfully' and as 'equal partners', and
- Making the time for full and open dialogue between all stakeholders.

A partnership approach, if appropriately structured, can meet program goals but can also strengthen the capacity of the existing workforce through both the sharing of knowledge and training resources between organisations.

Planning for sustainability is a further critical element to the success of any

initiative seeking to reduce Indigenous family violence. The reliance on short-term government funding can compromise the effectiveness and impact of programs.

Conclusion

Despite the myriad of programs that exist there is a lack of robust. formal evaluations of Indigenous violence programs (Memmott 2006). This makes it difficult to ascertain the effectiveness of such interventions, whether they are designed to reduce the incidence of family violence, or to build the capacity of communities and individuals to cope with violence. It also means that the evidence base from which policy makers can draw on to design effective programs is reduced. Evaluations are required at various intervals, recognising that the benefits of programs may only be apparent at two or five years after the intervention, not the typical six months post-intervention evaluations that currently take place.

The other clear conclusion from this brief is positive and encouraging: of the evaluations that exist, some show on a qualitative level, that genuine partnerships, a sense of ownership, and participation in programs increases the receptiveness of the community.

Indigenous communities are working hard, often despite immense odds, to tackle the problem of violence within their communities.

Dr Kyllie Cripps is the Centre Fellow at the Indigenous Law Centre, at the University of New South Wales. Dr Megan Davis is a Professor of Law and Director of the Indigenous Law Centre, at the University of New South Wales and an Expert Member of the UN Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues.

References

All URLs were correct in June 2012.

Al-Yaman F, Van Doeland M & Wallis M 2006. *Family violence among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples*. Cat. no. IHW 17. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. <u>http://www.aihw.gov.au/WorkArea/</u> <u>DownloadAsset.aspx?id=6442458608</u>

Australia. Australian National Audit Office (ANAO) 2011. *Northern Territory Night Patrols*. Audit report no. 32 2010-11. Canberra: ANAO. <u>http://</u> www.anao.gov.au/~/media/Uploads/ Documents/2010%2011_report_32.pdf

Australia. Department of Finance and Administration 2006. *Evaluation of Family Violence Prevention Legal Services (FVPLS) program.* Canberra: Office of Evaluation & Audit (Indigenous Programs), Department of Finance and Deregulation

Australia. National Homelessness Strategy & Qld. Department of Communities 2004. Safe House Project Report: Sustainable Service Responses to Family Violence in Remote Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Communities in North Queensland. Canberra: Department of Family and Community Services. http://www.fahcsia.gov.au/sites/default/ files/documents/05_2012/safe_house_ project report 2may04.pdf

Australian Institute of Criminology (AIC) 2011. Chapter 5: Promoting law and order, in Australia, Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs, Northern Territory Emergency Response Evaluation Report. <u>http://</u> www.fahcsia.gov.au/sa/indigenous/ pubs/nter_reports/Documents/nter_ evaluation_report_2011.PDF

Bamblett M, Bath H & Roseby R 2010. Growing Them Strong, Together: promoting the safety and wellbeing of the Northern Territory's children: report of the Board of Inquiry into the Child Protection System in the Northern Territory. Darwin: Northern Territory Government. http://www. childprotectioninquiry.nt.gov.au/_data/ assets/pdf_file/0009/49779/CPSR_ Summary.pdf

Bauman T & Pope J (eds) 2009. Solid work you mob are doing: Case Studies in Indigenous Dispute Resolution & Conflict Management in Australia. Melbourne: Federal Court of Australia. <u>http://www.fedcourt.gov.au/pdfsrtfs_s/</u> <u>solid_work_report.pdf</u>

Beacroft K, Richards H, Andrevski H & Rosevear L 2011. *Community night patrols in the Northern Territory: Toward an improved performance and reporting framework.* Technical and background paper series no. 47. Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology. <u>http://www.aic.gov.au/documents/</u> <u>C/4/3/%7BC43E61E9-5F6F-45AD-9774-</u> <u>80C5CA5A1DAB%7Dtbp47_001.pdf</u>

Blagg H & Valuri G 2003. *An Overview* of *Night Patrol Services in Australia*. Canberra: Crime Prevention Branch, Attorney-General's Department. <u>http://www.crimeprevention.gov.au/</u> <u>Publications/FamilyViolence/Documents/</u> <u>Night_Patrol.htm</u>

Borowski A 2010. Indigenous Participation in Sentencing Young Offenders: Some Findings from an Evaluation of the Children's Koori Court of Victoria. Paper to Australian Institute of Judicial Administration Non-Adversarial Justice Conference, Melbourne, 7 May. <u>http://aija.org.au/</u> NAJ%202010/Papers/Borowski%20 A%20PPT.pdf

Brewin M & Coggan C 2004. Evaluation of the Ngati Porou Community Injury Prevention Project. *Ethnicity & Health* 9(1) 515

Brown J & Languedoc S 2004. Components of an Aboriginal based family violence intervention program. *Families in Society* 85(4): 477–83

Charles Darwin University (CDU) 2010. CDU and Mawul Rom launch pioneering Masters program. *Media release* 18 March. <u>http://ext.cdu.edu.</u> <u>au/newsroom/a/2010/Pages/110318-CDUandMawulRom.aspx</u>

Conigrave K, Proude E & d'Abbs P 2007. Evaluation of the Groote Eylandt and Bickerton Island Alcohol Management System. Darwin: Department of Justice, Northern Territory Government. <u>http://www.nt.gov.</u> au/justice/licenreg/documents/reports/ <u>Groote%20Eylandt%20Alcohol%20</u> Management%20Evaluation%20Report. pdf

Cram F, Pihama L, Jenkins K & Karehana M 2002. Evaluation of Programs for Maori Adult Protected Persons under the Domestic Violence

Indigenous Justice Clearinghouse

Act 1995. Wellington: Ministry of Justice. <u>http://www.justice.govt.nz/</u> <u>publications/publications-archived/2002/</u> <u>evaluation-of-programmes-for-maori-</u> <u>adult-protected-persons-under-the-</u> <u>domestic-violence-act-1995-june-2002</u>

Cripps K & McGlade H 2008. Indigenous family violence & sexual abuse: considering pathways forward. *Journal of Family Studies* 14(2–3): 240–253

Cripps K 2007. Indigenous family violence: From emergency measures to committed long term action. *Australian Indigenous Law Review* 11(2): 7–18

Cunneen C 2010. Alternative and Improved Responses to Domestic and Family Violence in Queensland Indigenous Communities. Brisbane: Department of Communities, Qld Government. <u>http://www.parliament. gld.gov.au/documents/tableoffice/</u> tabledpapers/2010/5310t1801.pdf

Cunneen C, Luff J, Menzies K & Ralph N 2005. Indigenous family mediation: the NSW ATSIFAM program. *Australian Indigenous Law Reporter* 9(1): 1-14

Curtis D 1993. Julalikari Council's Community Night Patrol. *Aboriginal justice issues: proceedings of a conference held 23-25 June 1992.* Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology Conference: 73-78

d'Abbs P, McMahon R, Cunningham T & Fitz J 2010a. *An evaluation of the Katherine Alcohol Management Plan and Liquor Supply Plan*. Casuarina: Menzies School of Health Research. <u>http://www.menzies.edu.au/sites/</u> menzies.edu.au/files/file/Katherine%20 <u>AMP%20Evaluation_Final.pdf</u>

d'AbbsP, IvoryB, SeniorK, Cunningham T & Fitz, J 2010b. Managing alcohol in Tennant Creek, Northern Territory: an evaluation of the Tennant Creek Alcohol Management Plan and related measures to reduce alcoholrelated problems. Casuarina: Menzies School of Health Research. <u>http://www. nt.gov.au/justice/licenreg/documents/</u> liquor/100909_TC_evaluation_revised final.doc%20Sept%202010.pdf

Fitzgerald J 2008. Does circle sentencing reduce Aboriginal offending? *Crime and Justice Bulletin no. 115.* Sydney: NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research. <u>http://www.ipc.</u> <u>nsw.gov.au/lawlink/bocsar/ll_bocsar.nsf/</u> <u>wwFiles/cjb115.pdf</u> Gordon S, Hallahan K & Henry D 2002. Putting the Picture Together, Inquiry into Response by Government Agencies to Complaints of Family Violence and Child Abuse in Aboriginal Communities. Perth: State Law Publisher

Higgens D & Associates 1997. A Report to the Office of Aboriginal Development: Best Practice for Aboriginal Community Night Patrols and Warden Schemes. Perth: Office of Aboriginal Development

Howard J 2007. Indigenous child abuse a 'national emergency': PM. *ABC Radio National PM Transcripts*. <u>http://www.abc.net.au/pm/content/2007/</u> <u>s1958368.htm</u>

Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission (HREOC) 2008. Social Justice Report 2007. Sydney: Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission. http://www.hreoc.gov.au/social_justice/ sj_report/sjreport07/index.html

Joint Committee of Public Accounts Audit 2005. and Report 403: Access of Indigenous Australians to Law and Justice Services. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia. http://www.aph.gov.au/ Parliamentary Business/Committees/ House of Representatives_ Committees?url=jcpaa/atsis/report.htm

Kanuha V K 2007. Ke Ala Lokahi, Native Hawaiian Batterer Intervention Program: Project Summary. <u>http://</u> <u>www2.hawaii.edu/~kanuha/CV%20</u> <u>&%20Publications_files/KAL%20</u> <u>SUMMARY%20REPORT%20JULY%20</u> <u>2007-1.pdf</u>

Keel M 2004. Family Violence and sexual assault in Indigenous communities: 'walking the talk'. *Australian Centre for the Study of Sexual Assault (ACSSA) Briefing no.* 4. Melbourne: Australian Institute of Family Studies. <u>http://www.aifs.gov.au/</u> <u>acssa/pubs/briefing/acssa_briefing4.pdf</u>

Kelly L 2002. Mediation in Aboriginal Communities: Familiar Dilemmas, Fresh Developments. *Indigenous Law Bulletin* 5(14): 7-10

Kowanko I & Power C 2008. CNAHS Family and Community Healing Program Final External Evaluation Report. Adelaide: Flinders University. http://www.aboriginalhealth.flinders. edu.au/Newsletters/2008/Downloads/ Document_FCH.pf Kowanko I, Stewart T, Power C, Fraser R, Love I & Bromley T 2009. An Aboriginal family and community healing program in metropolitan Adelaide: Description and evaluation. *Australian Indigenous Health Bulletin* 9(4): 1-12

La Rocque E 1997. 'Re-examining culturally appropriate models in criminal justice applications' in Ash M (ed), *Aboriginal and Treaty Rights in Canada*. Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press: 75-96

Lawrence C 2002. A National Disgrace: Violence Against Women and Children in Indigenous Communities. *UNSW Law Journal* 25(1): 216-219

Marchetti E 2009. Indigenous Sentencing Courts. *Indigenous Justice Clearinghouse Research Brief no.* 5. Sydney: Department of Attorney General and Justice. <u>http://www.</u> indigenousjustice.gov.au/briefs/brief005. pdf

Memmott P, Stacy R, Chambers C & Keys C 2001. Violence in Indigenous communities: full report. Barton: Crime Prevention Branch, Attorney-General's Department. http://www.crimeprevention.gov.au/ Publications/FamilyViolence/Documents/ violenceindigenous.pdf

Memmott P, Chambers C, Go-Sam C & Thomson L 2006. Good Practice in Indigenous Family Violence Prevention - Designing and Evaluating Successful Programs. *Australian Domestic and Family Violence Clearinghouse Issues Paper no. 11.* Sydney: University of NSW. <u>http://www.austdvclearinghouse.</u> <u>u n s w . e d u . a u / P D F % 2 0 f i l e s /</u> <u>Issuespaper_11.pdf</u>

Morgan A and Louis E 2010. *Evaluation* of the Queensland Murri Court: Final report. Technical and Background Paper series no. 39. Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology. http://aic.gov.au/publications/current%20 series/tbp/21-40/tbp039.aspx

Mow K E 1992. *Tjunparni: Family violence in Indigenous Australia*. Canberra: ATSIC

Native Counselling Services of Alberta 2001. A Cost–Benefit Analysis of Hollow Water's Community Holistic Circle Healing Process. Alberta, Canada: Solicitor General Canada. http://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/res/cor/ apc/_fl/apc-20-eng.pdf_

Indigenous Justice Clearinghouse

NSW Aboriginal Child Sexual Assault Taskforce 2006. Breaking the Silence: Creating the Future. Addressing child sexual assault in Aboriginal communities in NSW. Sydney: NSW Government. <u>http://www.lawlink. nsw.gov.au/lawlink/acsat/acsat.nsf/</u> wFiles/80001%20CP%20Rep-all_sml. pdf/\$file/80001%20CP%20Rep-all_sml.pdf

New South Wales (NSW) 2007. *NSW* Interagency Plan to Tackle Child Sexual Assault in Aboriginal Communities 2006-2011. <u>http://www.daa.nsw.gov.au/</u> <u>data/files//NSW%20Govt%20Plan%20</u> to%20Tackle%20Aboriginal%20 Child%20Sexual%20Assault.pdf

Partnerships Against Domestic Violence 2003. Indigenous Family Violence: Phase I Meta-Evaluation Report. Barton: Office of the Status of Women

Queensland (Qld) 2000. Response to the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Women's Taskforce on Violence Report: The First Step. Brisbane: Department of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Policy and Development, Qld Government

Rawsthorne M 2010. Aboriginal Women Against Violence Project: Evaluation report. Sydney: University of Sydney. <u>http://ses.library.usyd.edu.</u> au/bitstream/2123/6267/1/AWAV%20 Evaluation%20report%20library.pdf

Robertson B 1999. The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Women's Taskforce on Violence Report. Brisbane: Qld Government

Senior K, Chenhall R, Ivory B & Stevenson C 2009. *Moving beyond the restrictions: the evaluation of the Alice Springs Alcohol Management Plan.* Casuarina: Menzies School of Health Research <u>http://www.nt.gov.au/justice/</u> <u>licenreg/documents/liquor/reports/</u> <u>MSHR%20Evaluation%20of%20the%20</u> <u>Alice%20Springs%20Alcohol%20</u> <u>Restrictions.pdf</u> Stubbs J 2004. Restorative justice, domestic violence and family violence. *Australian Family and Domestic Violence Clearinghouse Issues Paper no.* 9. Sydney: University of Sydney. <u>http://www.adfvc.unsw.edu.au/</u> <u>documents/Issues_Paper 9.pdf</u>

University of Notre Dame Australia 2010a. *Fitzroy Valley Alcohol Restriction Report December 2010*. Perth: Drug and Alcohol Office, WA Government. <u>http://www.dao.health.</u> wa.gov.au/DesktopModules/Bring2mind/ DMX/Download.aspx?Command=Core Download&EntryId=376&PortalId=0&Ta bld=211

University of Notre Dame Australia 2010b. Halls Creek Alcohol Restriction Report December 2010. Perth: Drug and Alcohol Office, WA Government. http://www.dao.health.wa.gov.au/ DesktopModules/Bring2mind/DMX/ Download.aspx?Command=Core_Do wnload&EntryId=681&PortalId=0&Tab Id=211

Weatherburn D, Snowball L & Hunter BH 2006. The economic and social factors underpinning Indigenous contact with the justice system: results from the 2002 NATSISS survey. *Crime and Justice Bulletin no. 104.* Sydney: NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research. <u>http://www.lawlink.nsw.gov.</u> *au/lawlink/bocsar/ll_bocsar.nsf/vwFiles/* <u>CJB104.pdf/\$file/CJB104.pdf</u>

Western Australia (WA) 2002. Putting People First: The Western Australian State Government's Action Plan for Addressing Family Violence and Child Abuse in Aboriginal Communities. http://www.strongfamilies.wa.gov.au/ UserDir/Documents/Public/Putting%20 People%20First.pdf

Wild R & Anderson P 2007. Ampe Akelyernemane Meke Mekarle: 'Little Children are Sacred': Report of the Northern Territory Government Inquiry into the Protection of Aboriginal Children from Sexual Abuse. Darwin: Department of the Chief Minister. <u>http://</u> www.inquirysaac.nt.gov.au/pdf/bipacsa_ final_report.pdf

ISSN 1837-6223 (print) © 2012 Indigenous Justice Clearinghouse.

You may copy, distribute, display, download and otherwise freely deal with this work for any purpose, provided that you attribute the Indigenous Justice Clearinghouse as the owner. However, you must obtain permission if you wish to (a) charge others for access to the work (other than at cost), (b) include the work in advertising or a product for sale, or (c) modify the work.

While every effort has been made to ensure that this document is correct at the time of printing, the Indigenous Justice Clearinghouse, its agents and employees, disclaim any and all liability to any person in respect of anything done or omitted to be done in reliance or upon the while or any part of this document.

This information can be provided in alternative formats such as braille, audiotape, large print or computer disk. Please contact the Indigenous Justice Clearinghouse by phone: (02) 8061 9319 (voice) or TTY: (02) 8688 7733 (for people who are deaf or have a speech impairment) or email **ijc@agd.nsw.gov.au**.